## FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/16/2018 9:56 AM

No. <u>95</u>747-9 COA No. <u>76</u>577-9-I

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### ALEXANDRA BRAATZ,

Respondent,

v.

### MICHAEL BRAATZ,

Petitioner.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal From King County Superior Court The Hon. Jean Rietschel Presiding

> NEIL M. FOX WSBA No. 15277 Attorney for Petitioner Law Office of Neil Fox, PLLC 2125 Western Ave. Ste 330 Seattle WA 98121

Phone: 206-728-5440 e-mail: nf@neilfoxlaw.com

# **

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER				
B.	COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION				
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED9				
	1.		w is Proper Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as this Involves Issues of Substantial Public Interest	9	
		a.	The Court of Appeals' Decision is the First Appellate Case Addressing the New Statute	9	
		b.	The Court of Appeals' Decision Rested on Incomplete Briefing	10	
	2.	Reviev	v Should Be Granted Under RAP 13.4(b)(3)	14	
	3.	Review is Appropriate Due to Conflicts with this Court's Prior Decisions			
F.	CONC	CLUSIO	<u>N</u>	19	

# **TABLE OF CASES**

Page				
Washington Cases				
Anderson v. Morris, 87 Wn.2d 706, 558 P.2d 155 (1976) 15				
Dep't of Labor and Indus. v. Rowley,185 Wn.2d 186,         378 P.3d 139 (2016)       14				
Hiatt v. Walker Chevrolet Co., 120 Wn.2d 57, 837 P.2d 618 (1992)14				
<i>In re King</i> , 110 Wn.2d 793, 756 P.2d 1303 (1988)				
<i>In re Marriage of James</i> , 79 Wn. App. 436, 903 P.2d 470 (1995)17				
<i>In re Marriage of Rideout</i> , 150 Wn.2d 337, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003) 16,19				
<i>In re Parentage of Jannot</i> , 149 Wn.2d 123, 65 P.3d 664 (2003) 16,19				
State v. Matson, 22 Wn. App. 114, 587 P.2d 540 (1978)				
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)				
Federal Cases				
<i>Grosso v. United States</i> , 390 U.S. 62, 88 S. Ct. 709, 19 L. Ed. 2d 906 (1968)				
Haynes v. United States, 390 U.S. 85, 88 S. Ct. 722, 19 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1968)				
Leary v. United States, 395 U.S. 6, 89 S. Ct. 1532, 23 L. Ed. 2d 57 (1969)				

<i>Lefkowitz v. Cunningham</i> , 431 U.S. 801, 97 S. Ct. 2132, 53 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1977)
<i>Marchetti v. United States</i> , 390 U.S. 39, 88 S. Ct. 697, 19 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)
Schaffer ex rel. Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 126 S. Ct. 528,         163 L. Ed. 2d 387 (2005)
Statutes, Constitutional Provisions, Rules and Other Authority
CrR 6.14
Laura Lee Gildengorin, Note, "Smoke & Mirrors: How Current Firearm Relinquishment Laws Fail to Protect Domestic Violence Victims," 67 <i>Hastings L.J.</i> 807 (April 2016)
King County Local Family Rule 176
Laws of 2014, ch. 111, §§ 1-79
RAP 13.4 passim
RCW 9.41.800
RCW 9.41.804
U.S. Const. amend. V
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
Wash. Const. art. I, § 9

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Michael Braatz, petitioner herein and respondent below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review set out in Part B.

#### B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION</u>

Mr. Braatz seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Alexandra Braatz v. Michael Braatz*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_, No. 76577-9-I, a published opinion issued by Division One on March 19, 2018. A copy of this decision is attached in Appendix A.

### C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Should the Court of Appeals have issued a far-reaching published decision regarding burden of proof and compliance with a firearm surrender order issued under RCW 9.41.800, where the appellant (Alexandra Braatz) failed to brief the issues adequately either in the trial court or on appeal?
- 2. Where the Legislature was silent as to who has the burden of proving compliance or lack of compliance with a firearm surrender order, and there are significant Fifth Amendment issues with shifting the burden to a restrained party to prove compliance, should this Court adopt the usual rule that the plaintiff has the burden of proof?

3. Given the deference accorded to factual determinations made by family court judges, was there substantial evidence to support the trial court's decision that Mr. Braatz had complied with the firearm surrender order?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Braatz and Ms. Braatz are in the middle of a contentious divorce and child custody proceeding in Oregon. Ms. Braatz moved to Washington State and sought a domestic violence protection order in King County Superior Court, making various allegations of violence and sexual assault. CP 1-10. She claimed that Oregon law enforcement ignored her, CP 5, and thus had no corroboration for her claims. CP 114. Mr. Braatz disputed the allegations of violence, providing documentation to the Family Court Services social worker. CP 21-22, 111-13.<sup>1</sup>

When the case came on for hearing, there was no testimony, and the family court commissioner failed to resolve the many factual disputes between the parties. Although she entered a final order of protection against

Mr. Braatz also alleged that Ms. Braatz had hired someone to murder him. CP 113. Ms. Braatz acknowledged a friend had threatened to kill Mr. Braatz, but minimized the threat as not being serious. CP 120.

Mr. Braatz, CP 11-18, the commissioner noted that more factual investigation was required. RP (11/30/16) 12-13.

The commissioner also ruled that she did not have jurisdiction to order Mr. Braatz to surrender firearms. CP 14. Ms. Braatz moved for revision, CP 28-30, and ultimately Mr. Braatz agreed that the court had jurisdiction to order him to surrender firearms. Such an agreed order was entered. CP 60-62.

One practical problem with the surrender issue is that Mr. Braatz was currently residing in La Grande, Oregon, in Union County. He did turn in three firearms to the sheriff there. CP 58-59. However, he owned a number of firearms that were located in Lane County, Oregon, which is about 370 miles away from La Grande. CP 85. Yet, the original surrender order, signed on January 4, 2017, required Mr. Braatz to turn in the firearms in his "possession or control" to the Union County Sheriff. CP 54. The Union County Sheriff would not accept the firearms that were located in Lane County. CP 85. In any case, it obviously would not be a good idea (or lawful) for Mr. Braatz to drive 370 miles to Lane County, retrieve the weapons and drive them back to Union County. Instead, he arranged to have

his Lane County firearms placed into a safe with the combination given only to a third party. CP 85.

On January 30, 2017, Ms. Braatz filed an unsworn document (an email) purporting to contain an inventory of Mr. Braatz's firearms in 2014 from a gun storage facility ("Emerald Valley Armory"). The email appears to be from someone named "Raye Gunter" and is entitled "inventory list 11-13-14." It lists various firearms and serial numbers, but otherwise has no explanation or detail as to who actually owned any of the listed items, who stored the items and when, and how or when the "inventory" was compiled. Ms. Braatz submitted a declaration along with the email, claiming that the inventory listed the firearms that Mr. Braatz had brought to be stored after a house-fire. CP 63-66.

At a hearing before the Hon. Jean Rietschel on February 1, 2017, Mr. Braatz's lawyer noted the practical difficulties with compliance with the court's surrender order, but told the court that the remaining guns were in a safe in Lane County, a safe with a combination given only to another person (Terry Smith, the person approved by both sides as the visitation supervisor). Counsel relayed that it was impractical for Mr. Braatz to drive from Union County to Lane County and to bring the safe with the guns back to Union

County (which did not have storage space for the guns in any case). RP (2/1/17) 65-70. Moreover, Lane County told Mr. Braatz that "they will not take possession of firearms because he's not a resident of that county and it's not a court order, an Oregon court order, and not a Lane County court order." RP (2/1/17) 67.

Through her lawyer, Ms. Braatz argued that Mr. Braatz had not complied with the surrender order and that storage of the guns in a safe to which someone else had the combination was not adequate. RP (2/1/17) 72-75. Counsel for Ms. Braatz stated that he wanted the court to "initiate a show cause order" and refer Mr. Braatz to the prosecutor for initiation of criminal contempt proceedings. RP (2/1/17) 74-75. Mr. Braatz opposed the suggestion for referral for contempt proceedings, noting that any non-compliance was not willful, given the logistics of the situation, and that he had hired counsel specifically to figure out a way to comply with the court's orders. RP (2/1/17) 77.

Judge Rietschel noted that Mr. Braatz was not in compliance with prior orders, but that he was trying to comply. She ruled that she would not refer the matter to the prosecuting attorney, but "[w]hether petitioner wishes to file the motion for contempt, that is up to the petitioner." RP (2/1/17) 78.

Counsel for Ms. Braatz then stated: "I'll give notice to opposing counsel, we're going to go next door in the next five minutes and file a motion for contempt." RP (2/1/17) 78. Counsel for Mr. Braatz replied that "that's not sufficient notice." RP (2/1/17) 78-79. After more discussion of the practicalities of the situation, Judge Rietschel finally set a new review date of February 15, 2017. RP (2/1/17) 79-85.

Rather than waiting for the two week review date, and ignoring Mr. Braatz's counsel's objection about notice, Ms. Braatz's attorney went to a different judge later that same day and obtained an *ex parte* order to show cause, signed in an off-the-record proceeding. CP 69-76. The order was never served on Mr. Braatz personally, as required by King County Local Family Rule 17.

On February 13, 2017, Mr. Braatz filed a declaration of surrender, setting out his difficulties complying with the court's prior orders and explaining how he ultimately had to pay someone to drill open the safe, in his absence, and how his father then took the guns in the safe and drove 370 miles to the Union County Sheriff and turned them in. CP 85-92. Mr. Braatz attached documentation that confirmed his actions and declared under penalty of perjury that "I have surrendered my firearms -- all firearms listed in her

declaration are surrendered except for one which was owned by and in the possession of Dylan Hillman." CP 86.

When the matter came on for the review hearing on February 15, 2017, Mr. Braatz's attorney appeared in person and stated that Mr. Braatz "can be available by phone i[f] need be." RP (2/15/17) 89. Judge Rietschel stated that based upon Mr. Braatz's declaration, he seemed to be in compliance. *Id.* Ms. Braatz's attorney noted that Mr. Braatz was not present, but never actually objected to his lack of presence and never attempted to ask Mr. Braatz any questions via telephone. Instead, counsel merely argued Mr. Braatz's declaration had a discrepancy from the 2014 inventory. He claimed that there were items on the current list that were not on the 2014 list and items on the 2014 list that were not turned into the sheriff in 2017. RP (2/15/17) 90. In his interpretation of the various lists, counsel failed to identify the exact discrepancies — i.e., the attorney never referred to any specific firearm by number or model and never made any attempt to ask Mr. Braatz, under oath, about supposed discrepancies.

Judge Rietschel ruled that Mr. Braatz was in compliance:

I'm going to find that he is in compliance at this point in time. He has made substantial efforts to turn in the guns that he has and I don't have any information that the 2014 list is accurate at this point in time. It's three years ago. I'm going to find that

he's in compliance at this time, so I will enter an order to that effect.

RP (2/15/17) 91. A final order was then entered, CP 98-99.

Ms. Braatz appealed that order, and raised two assignments of error: (1) there was insufficient evidence to support the conclusion that Mr. Braatz complied with the surrender order and (2) the trial judge erred procedurally and denied Ms. Braatz due process by not requiring Mr. Braatz to be present in court for cross-examination. AOB at 3. Neither Ms. Braatz nor *amici*<sup>2</sup> provided extensive briefing on issues related to who had the burden of proof.

On March 19, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued a published decision holding that the Legislature placed the burden of proving compliance with a surrender order on the restrained person. Slip Op. at 8-9. The court then held that, because there were two guns listed on the 2014 inventory that were not listed as being turned in to law enforcement in Oregon, there was not substantial evidence to support Judge Rietschel's determination that Mr. Braatz had complied. Slip Op. at 10-13.<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals reversed

Legal Voice, Northwest Justice Project, Washington State Coalition Against Domestic Violence, Alliance for Gun Responsibility Foundation, Coalition Ending Gender-Based Violence, and Seattle City Attorney's Office.

The Court of Appeals rejected Ms. Braatz's arguments regarding Mr. Braatz's appearance at the hearing through counsel "as unsupported and, as a result, do not reach Michael' s arguments that the show cause order in this case was insufficient to (continued...)

Judge Rietschel's order, and remanded for more proceedings, noting in a footnote that Mr. Braatz could always raise Fifth Amendment concerns as an "affirmative defense." Slip Op. at 14 n.9.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- 1. Review is Proper Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as this Case Involves Issues of Substantial Public Interest
  - a. The Court of Appeals' Decision is the First Appellate Case Addressing the New Statute

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is the first appellate decision, published or unpublished, covering issues related to the firearm surrender statute adopted in 2014.<sup>4</sup> Accordingly, courts, practitioners, and litigants in other cases around the state will rely heavily on the published decision in this case when deciding issues about who has the burden of proof regarding compliance with a surrender order and how that burden can be satisfied in a particular case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>(...continued) require his physical presence." Slip Op. at 9. The Court of Appeals thus did not address a series of issues raised by Mr. Braatz – that Ms. Braatz did not actually object to his appearance through counsel, that the "show cause" order was improperly entered and not properly served, and that Ms. Braatz waived her constitutional arguments about due process when she was presented with the option of examining Mr. Braatz telephonically, but chose not to do so when given the opportunity. BOR 14-28.

Laws of 2014, ch. 111, §§ 1-7.

This lack of prior decisional law was the primary reason why a series of *amici* filed a brief in support of Ms. Braatz in the Court of Appeals.<sup>5</sup> While Mr. Braatz continues to believe that his case was the wrong vehicle for addressing legal issues related to the surrender statute, the published nature of the Court of Appeals' decision and the interest attracted already by *amici* should lead to the Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as the petition "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

# b. The Court of Appeals' Decision Rested on Incomplete Briefing

The Court of Appeals' decision should not stand as the last word in this area of the law because of inadequate briefing below on the issue of burden of proof. Although Ms. Braatz claimed in the trial court that Mr. Braatz had the burden of proving compliance with the surrender order, CP 77, she provided no legal authority for this assertion. Similarly, on appeal, Ms. Braatz's pleadings were bereft of legal analysis about the burden of proof.

See Motion for Leave to File Amici Curiae Brief by Legal Voice, Northwest Justice Project, Washington State Coalition Against Domestic Violence, Alliance for Gun Responsibility Foundation, Coalition Ending Gender-Based Violence, and Seattle City Attorney's Office (8/17/17) at 6.

See State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (issue affecting all sentencing hearings in Pierce County after a certain date was a "prime example" justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

Her opening brief's only mention of the issue was just an assumption that the burden was on Mr. Braatz.<sup>7</sup>

In his response, Mr. Braatz specifically pointed to Ms. Braatz's lack of legal argument regarding burden of proof. He cited legal authority that normally assigns the burden to the plaintiff, and noted that Ms. Braatz had ways to try to prove her claims that Mr. Braatz had not complied, but had failed to provide sufficient proof. BOR at 31-33 (citing, *inter alia*, *Schaffer ex rel. Schaffer v. Weast*, 546 U.S. 49, 56, 126 S. Ct. 528, 163 L. Ed. 2d 387 (2005)). In reply, Ms. Braatz claimed that she had provided proper briefing. ROA at 7 n.4. Yet, the citation was only to portions of her opening brief reciting the statutory scheme, BOA at 5-6, which, as the Court of Appeals recognized, does not "expressly allocate the burden of proof." Slip Op. at 8.

Amici raised the issue of burden of proof, but also failed to provide legal analysis. The only citation to authority in the entire section of the brief entitled "The Court Should Have Required Mr. Braatz To Provide Evidence of What Happened to the Two Missing Guns" is to a student note. Am. Cur. Brf. at 12, 14 (citing Laura Lee Gildengorin, Note, "Smoke & Mirrors: How

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See AOB at 21 (noting lack of corroboration to Mr. Braatz's declaration) & 26 ("Given this evidentiary record, Michael could not have satisfied his burden to show that he complied with the orders to surrender weapons without being present at the hearing.").

Current Firearm Relinquishment Laws Fail to Protect Domestic Violence Victims," 67 *Hastings L.J.* 807, 835-36 (April 2016)). However, a review of this note reveals nothing about who has, or should have, the burden of proof in a proceeding regarding compliance with a firearm surrender order in a civil case involving a domestic violence protection order.

In his answer, Mr. Braatz noted that *amici*, like Ms. Braatz, simply asserted, without analysis, that the burden should be on the restrained party to prove compliance with a surrender order. Still, he provided briefing on the practical issues that arise under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and article I, section 9, of the Washington Constitution by a construction of the statute that places the burden of proof on the restrained party. Answer to *Am. Cur.* Brf. at 9-11. In particular, if someone falsely signs a declaration of surrender, and is then ordered to come to court and be examined under oath as to what happened to all of their firearms, the person at that point should normally be advised not to say a word and to assert the right to remain silent. In this regard, the U.S. Supreme Court has looked unfavorably at the constitutionality of statutory schemes

designed to elicit incriminating statements from those suspected of criminal activity.<sup>8</sup>

The Court of Appeals did recognize, in a footnote only, that a restrained person could always raise the Fifth Amendment as an "affirmative defense." Slip Op. at 14 n. 9. But, even this footnote – inserted into the end of the opinion — is a bit cryptic, stating that "[i]n such a case, the contemnor has the burden to produce evidence as to the claimed affirmative defense and the burden to persuade the court that the evidence is credible." *Id.* While that may be the case regarding whether a contemnor has the ability to comply with a particular court order, *In re King*, 110 Wn.2d 793, 804-05, 756 P.2d 1303 (1988), turning the assertion of the Fifth Amendment (and article I, section 9) right to remain silent into an "affirmative defense" which has to be "proven" will most certainly cause confusion in the lower courts.

See Marchetti v. United States, 390 U.S. 39, 88 S. Ct. 697, 19 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968) (striking down conviction for violating statute requiring gamblers to register with the Internal Revenue Service, in light of wide prohibition of gambling); Grosso v. United States, 390 U.S. 62, 88 S. Ct. 709, 19 L. Ed. 2d 906 (1968) (overturning conviction for failure to pay excise tax on gambling); Haynes v. United States, 390 U.S. 85, 88 S. Ct. 722, 19 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1968) (striking down statute that required registration of individuals transacting in firearms and that was applied only to weapons used principally by persons engaged in unlawful activities); and Leary v. United States, 395 U.S. 6, 89 S. Ct. 1532, 23 L. Ed. 2d 57 (1969) (invalidating statute requiring defendant to identify himself as transferee of marijuana who had failed to register and pay an occupational tax).

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