FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/11/2018 1:55 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95747-9 COA No. 76577-9-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

ALEXANDRA BRAATZ,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL BRAATZ,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Counsel on Appeal for Pro Bono Plaintiff/Respondent

Adrienne McKelvey, WSBA #50990 FOSTER PEPPER PLLC 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, Washington 98101-3292 T: (206) 447-4400 / F: (206) 447-9700 Email: adrienne.mckelvey@foster.com

William D. Braun, WSBA #35413 1200 Fifth Avenue, Suite 700 Seattle, Washington 98101 T: (206) 914-9531 Email: <u>braunlaw@comcast.net</u>

I. INTRODUCTION

This case illustrates the difficulties encountered by a victim of domestic violence when her abuser fails to fully comply with court orders to surrender his weapons. Michael Braatz (Michael), a domestic violence abuser, was ordered to surrender his firearms. Alexandra Braatz (Alexandra), sought to ensure her ex-husband Michael surrendered all his guns by participating in court-initiated hearings held to determine if Michael complied with the court's weapon surrender orders. When the trial court incorrectly found that Michael had surrendered all his firearms, Alexandra appealed.

The Court of Appeals found Michael had not accounted for all his firearms and held the trial court's decision was not supported by substantial evidence. Michael argued on appeal that he did not have the burden to prove he had surrendered all his firearms, but the Court of Appeals held that persons restrained by domestic violence protection orders have the burden to prove they have surrendered their weapons.

This case does not warrant Supreme Court review for three reasons. First, it does not involve a significant question of law under our state or federal Constitutions because (1) no Fifth Amendment protection issues were raised or preserved by Michael in the trial court, (2) Michael waived his Fifth Amendment rights by testifying, and (3) Michael's claim

-1-

that the Fifth Amendment protects restrained parties from the burden of proof does not raise a constitutional question. Second, this case does not involve a substantial public interest because the case is limited to its facts, does not involve any constitutional questions, does not invite unnecessary litigation, and does not create confusion. Third, the decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with any Supreme Court or published Court of Appeals decisions.

II. MICHAEL'S ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Michael presents three issues for review: (1) should the Court of Appeals have issued a decision regarding the burden of proof when Alexandra failed to brief the issues adequately; (2) should this Court adopt the usual rule that the plaintiff has the burden of proof; and (3) was there substantial evidence to support the trial court's decision that Michael had complied with the weapon surrender order?

III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The 2014 Weapons Surrender Statute

In 2014, Washington State enacted legislation to address the tragic consequences occurring when domestic abusers have access to guns and other dangerous weapons.¹ First, the legislation made it a criminal offense for any person to own, possess or control a firearm while subject to certain

¹ Engrossed Substitute House Bill 1840.

court orders, including domestic violence protection orders, meeting defined criteria. RCW 9.41.040(2)(a)(ii). Second, when a court issues a protection order meeting the defined criteria, it must require the restrained person to surrender any firearms, other dangerous weapons and concealed pistol license the restrained person may have, and the court must prohibit the restrained party from obtaining or possessing these items. RCW 9.41.800(3). The court is authorized to require that these items be surrendered to the local sheriff, the local chief of police, the restrained person's counsel, or any person designated by the court. RCW 9.41.800(7). The Order to Surrender Weapons requires the restrained person to surrender these items "immediately." CP 54, 61.

The statute directed the administrative office of the courts to develop two forms: The first is a "proof of surrender and receipt pattern form to be used to document that a [restrained person] has complied with a requirement to surrender firearms, dangerous weapons and his or her concealed pistol license, as ordered by a court under RCW 9.41.800." RCW 9.41.802. The second form is a "declaration of nonsurrender pattern form to document compliance when the [restrained person] has no firearms, dangerous weapons or concealed pistol license." RCW 9.41.802. A restrained person ordered to surrender firearms, other dangerous weapons and concealed pistol license must file with the clerk of the court

-3-

a "proof of surrender and receipt form" or a "declaration of nonsurrender form" within five judicial days of entry of the weapons surrender order. RCW 9.41.804. Accordingly, compliance with the statute consists of two requirements: first, surrendering any firearms, other dangerous weapons, and concealed pistol license to the proper recipient if the restrained person has any of these items; and second, filing paperwork with the court within five judicial days declaring the above items have been surrendered and attaching a receipt therefor, or declaring the restrained person does not have any of these items.

B. Factual and Procedural Background

On November 30, 2016, a domestic violence protection order (DVPO) was issued protecting Alexandra and her three children from Michael, for one year.² CP 11-18. One of the grounds upon which the DVPO was based was Alexandra's report that Michael owned 40 firearms and "anytime Michael threatens to kill me, he says he will shoot me."³ CP

² Michael neither sought revision of, nor appealed, that decision. As such, that determination is conclusively established and binding. *See Buckner, Inc. v. Berkey Irr. Supply*, 89 Wn. App. 906, 911, 951 P.2d 338, 341 (1998). On February 28, 2018, the protection order was renewed for another year until February 28, 2019. RCW 26.50.060(3).

³ On September 26, 2016, Michael admitted he owned "close to 40 guns." CP 113. Once the DVPO issued, Michael was prohibited from owning, possessing or controlling any firearm pursuant to RCW 9.41.040(2)(a)(ii) and from possessing or receiving any firearm or ammunition pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(8).

4, 6. Subsequently, orders were issued on January 4, 2017 and January 18, 2017 ordering Michael, a resident of Oregon, to "immediately surrender (turn in) all firearms and other dangerous weapons in your possession or control" to the Union County, Oregon Sheriff's Office. CP 54. On January 6, 2017, Michael surrendered three firearms to the Union County Sheriff's Office and filed a document entitled "Proof of Surrender," certifying his surrender of the three firearms. CP 58-59.

At the next hearing on January 18, 2017, Michael's attorney reported Michael had not surrendered all his firearms to the Union County Sheriff and that there remained "some other firearms" in Lane County— Oregon 350 miles away from Michael's location in Union County—that "need to be surrendered as well." RP 56. Alexandra agreed to allow Michael to surrender these weapons to the Lane County Sheriff's Office. RP 57. Michael did not provide an inventory identifying the firearms claimed to be located in Lane County. Concerned that Michael had not surrendered all his weapons, Alexandra obtained an inventory of firearms from the Emerald Valley Armory listing 34 firearms by make, model and serial number owned by Michael as of November 13, 2014 and submitted it to the court. CP 63-66. The three guns surrendered earlier to the Union County Sheriff's Office were on the inventory of 34 firearms. That meant there were 31 of Michael's firearms unaccounted for.

-5-

When the next hearing occurred on February 1, 2017, Michael's attorney informed the Court that neither the Lane County Sheriff's Office nor the Union County Sheriff's Office would accept Michael's firearms. RP 67. His lawyer represented that Michael's firearms were located in a gun safe at his mother's house in Lane County and that Michael did not have the combination to the safe. RP 67-70. Michael's lawyer proposed that this "be the arrangement for as long as the weapons are required to be surrendered." RP 68. Once again, Michael did not offer any proof identifying what firearms, if any, were in the alleged gun safe. In fact, Michael's lawyer claimed not to "know how to handle an inventory of these firearms." RP 77.

Alexandra objected to this proposed arrangement because there was no proof that any of Michael's firearms were in a gun safe at Michael's mother's house in Lane County. RP 71. Alexandra asserted Michael was stalling and asked the court to initiate a contempt proceeding under RCW 7.21.040. RP 74. The judge declined to do so but said Alexandra could file for contempt on her own. RP 78. The court entered an order finding Michael *not* in compliance with the court's weapons surrender order. RP 78, CP 67-68.

That same day, Alexandra filed an ex parte motion seeking to have

-6-

Michael held in civil contempt.⁴ CP 69-72. Alexandra believed the only way to force Michael to surrender his weapons was to seek a remedial sanction of a \$250 a day fine for every day Michael did not surrender all weapons in his possession or control. RP 83, CP 83. The motion was granted and a show cause order was issued requiring Michael to "go to court" on February 15, 2017. CP 75-76. On February 10, 2017, Alexandra filed a memorandum in support of holding Michael in civil contempt. CP 77-84. She asked that Michael be required to account for all 34 of his firearms listed in the Emerald Valley Armory inventory and she asked to cross-examine Michael. The memorandum argued that Michael had waived his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. CP 83.

On February 13, 2017, Michael filed a declaration reporting he had surrendered 32 firearms to the Union County Sheriff's Office on February 3, 2017. CP 85-87. He attached a receipt listing 32 firearms by make, model, caliber and serial number. CP 88-91. These 32 guns were in addition to the three firearms Michael had surrendered on January 6, 2017. Michael represented "I have surrendered my firearms-all firearms listed in [Alexandra's] declaration are surrendered except for one which was owned by and in the possession of Dylan Hillman." CP 86. Finally,

-7-

⁴ A criminal prosecution of Michael in Washington for the unlawful possession of a firearm was unlikely because his firearms were located in Oregon.

Michael declared "I have no concealed pistol license (it is expired) and no dangerous weapons to surrender." CP 87. Michael did not invoke the Fifth Amendment or raise any Fifth Amendment issues.

At the hearing on February 15, 2017, Michael did not appear but his counsel did and claimed Michael had "turned in all firearms." RP 89. Alexandra's counsel disagreed stressing there were "discrepancies" between the two gun lists. RP 90. A comparison of the Emerald Valley Armory inventory of firearms with the list of firearms turned in by Michael to the Union County Sheriff's Office showed that two of the guns on the Emerald Valley Armory inventory list "were not turned in." *Id*. Counsel noted there was no testimony that Michael had sold or transferred these firearms "so there's at least two guns missing." *Id*. Counsel concluded, "he's not supposed to have any guns, and there's still two guns unaccounted for. So until we resolve that, there is a problem." *Id*.

Michael's counsel responded that Michael had turned in 35 guns (three guns surrendered on January 6, 2017 and 32 surrendered on February 3, 2017). RP 91. Immediately, the trial court said "I'm going to find that he is in compliance at this point in time. He has made substantial efforts to turn in the guns that he has and I don't have any information that the 2014 list is accurate at this point in time." *Id.* Alexandra's counsel immediately objected and repeated the need to resolve the discrepancies between the two gun lists. *Id.* The court issued an order finding Michael in compliance with the weapons surrender order. CP 98-99. The court did not address Alexandra's contempt motion. Alexandra appealed the trial court's ruling that Michael complied with the order to surrender weapons.

On March 19, 2018, the Court of Appeals held that "the restrained person has the burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that they have surrendered their firearms and other dangerous weapons," and that "the trial court erred in finding that Michael complied with the order to surrender [his] weapons" because the "finding is not supported by substantial evidence." Slip Op. at 1 and 13. The court reversed and remanded for further proceedings indicating "[t]he motion for contempt is before the trial court on remand." *Id.* at 14. The court acknowledged that placing the burden of proof on the restrained party to prove they have surrendered their firearms is subject to the right to invoke the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. *Id.* at n.9.

IV. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This Court should deny review because (1) Michael fails to present a significant constitutional question, (2) there is no substantial public interest implicated, and (3) the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with precedent.

A. There Are No Significant Constitutional Questions Under RAP 13.4(b)(3)

Michael did not raise any Fifth Amendment protection issues or any burden of proof issues in the trial court.⁵ Nonetheless, Michael now claims that restrained parties have a Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination that shields them from testifying about firearms surrender. According to Michael, placing the burden of proof on restrained persons to show they have surrendered all their weapons is "not only wrong, but also impractical." Petition at 16. Michael argues that placing the burden of proof on the restrained party constitutes a significant constitutional question that justifies the Supreme Court in granting review and that the "burden of proving non-compliance" with a weapons surrender order should be "on the party that does not have a constitutional privilege to remain silent." Id. Michael's argument fails for at least three reasons. First, Michael did not preserve a Fifth Amendment challenge in the trial court. Second, Michael waived any right to claim the Fifth Amendment in this case. Finally, even if Michael had not waived any Fifth Amendment protections, the Constitution does not prohibit placing the burden of proof on individuals who may assert the Fifth Amendment.

⁵ Michael's assertion that Alexandra raised the weapons surrender burden of proof in the trial court is incorrect. Petition at 10; CP 77.

1. Michael Did Not Preserve Any Fifth Amendment Issues in the Trial Court

RAP 2.5(a) provides that this Court may refuse to review any claim of error that was not raised in the court below. Here, Michael said not a single word about the Fifth Amendment in the trial court. Thus, the trial court made no findings or rulings on the issue. This Court should not now consider Michael's belated Fifth Amendment argument where he failed to preserve it and thereby prevented the trial court from making any factual findings regarding its applicability. *See Eastham v. Arndt*, 28 Wn. App. 524, 532, 624 P.2d 1159 (1981) ("There is no blanket Fifth Amendment right to refuse to answer questions based on an assertion that any and all questions might tend to be incriminatory. The privilege must be claimed as to each question and the matter submitted to the court for its determination as to the validity of each claim.").⁶

2. Michael Has Waived His Fifth Amendment Privilege

Even if Michael had properly presented his Fifth Amendment argument to the trial court in the first instance—which he did not— Michael's reliance on the Fifth Amendment to justify discretionary review is misplaced. Michael waived his Fifth Amendment rights. CP 83. Indeed, Michael waived his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination

⁶ Michael does not claim "manifest error affecting a constitutional right."

by voluntarily testifying on his own behalf about his possession and surrender of firearms. "[W]hen a witness voluntarily testifies," the "witness himself, certainly if he is a party, determines the area of disclosure and therefore of inquiry." Brown v. United States, 356 U.S. 148, 155 (1958). "Such a witness has the choice, after weighing the advantage of the privilege against self-incrimination against the advantage of putting forward his version of the facts and his reliability as a witness," to testify "or not to testify at all." Id. And a witness who voluntarily testifies waives his privilege against self-incrimination to the full extent of relevant cross-examination. Id. at 154-55. This is because "[i]t is wellestablished that a witness, in a single proceeding, may not testify voluntarily about a subject and then invoke the privilege against selfincrimination when questioned about the details." Rogers v. United States, 340 U.S. 367, 373 (1951). In this case, Michael made his choice and testified about the possession and surrender of his firearms.⁷ CP 85-87. He testified extensively about the status of his firearms, including by submitting the Proof of Surrender form (though altered to omit some

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